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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA 

        
WILLIE STOKES      :  CIVIL ACTION COMPLAINT 

Plaintiff : 
       : 
 v.       : NO. 
       :   
CITY OF PHILADELPHIA    : 
       : 

AND       : 
       : 
NICOLE BRONGO KIWA NICOLE  : 
FORD, as Executrix of the Estate of   : 
DET. ERNEST GILBERT, Deceased  :   
       : 

AND       : 
       : 
THE ESTATE OF DET. LAWRENCE   : 
GERRARD, Deceased    : 
       : 

AND       : 
       : 
ROBERT J. MARANO, ESQUIRE  : 
       : 

AND       : 
       : 
JOHN DIDONATO, ESQUIRIE   : 
       : 
    Defendants.  : JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 
        
 

COMPLAINT – CIVIL ACTION 
 

Plaintiff, Willie Stokes, by and through his attorneys, VSCP LAW, hereby alleges as 

follows: 
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INTRODUCTION 
 

1. On January 4, 2022, Willie Stokes, Pennsylvania’s longest incarcerated exoneree, 

now age 60, walked out of prison where he had been wrongfully incarcerated for thirty-seven (37) 

years for a crime that he did not commit.  

2. In a shocking “sex for lies” scheme to boost conviction rates and clear out cold 

cases, detectives with the Philadelphia Police Department, including Detectives Ernest Gilbert 

(“Gilbert”) and Lawrence Gerrard (“Gerrard”), offered jailhouse informants the ultimate 

incentives — sex, drugs, and a reduced sentence — in exchange for adopting false and fabricated 

statements which were used to frame, arrest, prosecute, and incarcerate multiple innocent men, 

including Willie Stokes. 

3. Before having his conviction overturned by the Honorable Timothy Savage, who 

approved and adopted the report and recommendation of the Honorable Carol Sandra Moore Wells 

on December 30, 2021, for unequivocal violations of his constitutional civil rights, Willie Stokes 

was wrongfully prosecuted and convicted in 1984 for the murder of Leslie Campbell based on the 

testimony of witness Franklin Lee (“Lee”), who was promised and provided sex and drugs in 

exchanges for providing false testimony against Mr. Stokes.   

4. The Commonwealth not only knew that Lee’s testimony against Willie Stokes was 

a lie – the Commonwealth then prosecuted Lee for perjury based on his false testimony against 

Mr. Stokes even though the prosecutors, including Defendants, Robert Marano, Esquire and John 

DiDonato, Esquire, used that same false testimony to secure a murder conviction against Mr. 

Stokes and sentence him to a life without parole.   
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5. The prosecutors never told Willie Stokes or his attorneys that they had prosecuted 

Lee for perjury for the same statements used to convict Mr. Stokes.  It was not until 2015 – after 

Mr. Stokes had wasted thirty-one (31) years of life behind bars – that Mr. Stokes first learned of 

Lee’s perjury conviction through the prison grapevine.   

6. At a hearing on Willie Stokes’ petition for habeas corpus relief, the Court found – 

and the Commonwealth conceded — that the prosecutors failed to turn over exculpatory evidence 

to Mr. Stokes and his attorneys and that “the suppression of this evidence fatally undermines 

confidence in [Willie Stokes’] conviction,” and “violated [his] constitutional rights.”1  Further, the 

Commonwealth continued to “misrepresent[t] [..] the truth” during Willie Stokes’ appeal of his 

conviction, and “[w]ithout the lie, the case would have failed at the preliminary hearing stage” and 

Mr. Stokes’ wrongful conviction would not have occurred.  

7. On January 27, 2022, after the Conviction Integrity Unit in the District Attorney’s 

Office reviewed the case and Willie Stokes’ claim of innocence, the District Attorney’s Office 

requested that the Court enter a nolle prosequi pursuant to Pa.R.Crim.P. §585(a), which was 

granted by the Honorable Lillian Harris Ransom.  

8. Tragically, Willie Stokes’ case reveals the most egregious miscarriage of justice in 

this Commonwealth as no other Pennsylvania exoneree, and very few other exonerees in the 

nation, have been wrongfully incarcerated and deprived of their life and liberty for as many years 

as Mr. Stokes.  

 
1  See Order of the Honorable Carol Sandra Moore Wells, dated December 22, 2021, at pp. 18-19, in the matter of 
Stokes v. Lamas, et al., EDPA Docket No. 20-cv-2192.  
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9. As the current Philadelphia District Attorney recognized, “[t]his remarkable case is 

marked by prosecutorial and policing practices that were too pervasive during the so-called tough-

on-crime 1980s and 1990s, and unfortunately persist in far too many jurisdictions today. 

Prosecutors have an obligation to seek justice, and to redefine prosecutorial success, not by ‘wins’ 

in the form of convictions, but by accuracy and fairness in resolving criminal investigations and 

prosecutions.” 2  

10. This inexcusable tragedy is the direct result of egregious misconduct by Defendant-

detectives Gilbert and Gerrard, who, at the time of Willie Stokes’ wrongful incarceration, were 

employees of the Philadelphia Police Department (“PPD”) and Defendant, City of Philadelphia 

(“City”). Specifically, to make their case against Mr. Stokes, Detectives Gilbert and Gerrard used 

irresistible incentives like offering drugs and providing women for sex with jailhouse informants 

in exchange for their agreement to adopt fabricated statements and then provide sworn testimony 

that they knew to be false.  

11. These false and coerced statements were used by Detectives Gilbert and Gerrard to 

secure convictions and close out unsolved homicides cases by any means necessary, rather than to 

actually solve the homicide cases – depriving both the victim and the wrongfully accused of justice.    

12. Defendants also withheld exculpatory evidence that would have demonstrated 

Willie Stokes’ innocence and deliberately disregarded information and evidence that would have 

 
2 See Press release of the Philadelphia District Attorney’s Office, dated January 3, 2022 
(https://phillyda.org/news/with-dao-support-federal-court-vacates-1984-murder-conviction-of-willie-stokes/)   
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demonstrated flaws in the case against him, causing Mr. Stokes to spend nearly four (4) decades 

wrongly incarcerated for a murder that he did not commit. 

13. In a blatant recognition that the testimony used to convict Willie Stokes was a lie, 

Defendant Prosecutors, Marano and DiDonato, usurped the investigative role of law enforcement 

and charged their main witness, Lee, for perjury – not for his recantation and declaration at trial 

that his original incriminating statements against Willie Stokes were coerced, but for his original 

false, coerced, and incriminating statements against Mr. Stokes that the prosecutors had asked a 

jury to believe and rely upon to convict Mr. Stokes of murder.  

14. “Mr. Stokes’ ordeal over nearly four decades of filing relief petition after relief 

petition, only to be rejected on procedural bases and without all of the evidence the Constitution 

says he was owed from the Commonwealth, underscores the urgency of the criminal legal system 

seeking justice over finality,” as stated by DA Krassner.3  

15. Willie Stokes’ wrongful conviction was also the direct result of the unconstitutional 

and improper polices, practices and customs of the PPD, specifically including the Homicide Unit, 

and the unconstitutional actions of the individual Defendants.  

16. These unconstitutional and egregious policies, practices and customs have persisted 

for a significant period of time, which continued throughout this investigation, and for years 

thereafter, demonstrates the deliberate indifference of Defendant City to practices or outrageous 

police misconduct, including, but not limited to, coercion of witnesses, witness intimidation, the 

suppression of exculpatory evidence and a pervasive abuse of authority and power.  

 
3 Id.  
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JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

17. This action is brought pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §1983 to redress the deprivation under 

color of law of Plaintiff’s rights as secured by the United States Constitution.  This Court has 

federal question jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§1331 and 1343. 

18. Venue is proper in the Eastern District of Pennsylvania under 28 U.S.C. §1391(b) 

in that this is the District in which the claims arose. 

JURY DEMAND 
 

19. Willie Stokes demands a trial by jury on all issues and claims set forth in this 

Complaint, pursuant to the Seventh Amendment of the U.S. Constitution and Federal Rule of Civil 

Procedure §38(b). 

PARTIES 

20. Plaintiff, WILLIE STOKES, is, and at all times relevant to this Complaint was, a 

resident of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania.  In August 1984, Mr. Stokes was wrongfully 

convicted of the 1980 murder of Leslie Campbell and, as a result, served over thirty-seven (37) 

years in custody, until previously withheld exculpatory and admittedly false evidence provided a 

basis for his exoneration. Mr. Stokes was finally released on January 4, 2022, after his conviction 

was vacated by a federal judge. 

21. Defendant, CITY OF PHILADELPHIA, is, and at all times relevant to this 

Complaint was, a municipality located in the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania.  Defendant City 

was, at all times relevant to this Complaint, officially responsible for the policies, practices, and 

customs of the PPD, and was the employer of the individual PPD Defendants in this matter. 
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22. Defendant, Nicole Brongo Kiwa Nicole Ford, Executrix of the Estate of ERNEST 

GILBERT, deceased, is the representative of Ernest Gilbert, deceased (hereinafter referred to as 

“Detective Gilbert” or “Defendant Gilbert”) who was at all times relevant to this Complaint, was 

an officer of the PPD acting under color of law and pursuant to the ordinances, regulations, 

policies, customs, and usage of Defendant City and the PPD.  The claims against the Estate of 

Earnest Gilbert are made against Decedent in his individual capacity.  Upon information and belief, 

Defendant Gilbert was assigned as a Detective with the Homicide Unit of the PPD at the time of 

the investigation into the murder of Leslie Campbell and the wrongful conviction of Willie Stokes. 

23. Defendant, Estate of LAWRENCE GERRARD, deceased, is the representative of 

Lawrence Gerrard, deceased (hereinafter “Detective Gerrard” or “Defendant Gerrard”) who was 

at all times relevant to this Complaint, an officer of the PPD acting under color of law and within 

the scope of his employment pursuant to the statutes, ordinances, regulations, policies, customs, 

and usage of Defendant City and the PPD.  The claims against the Estate of Lawrence Gerrard are 

made against Decedent in his individual capacity. Upon information and belief, Defendant Gerrard 

was assigned as a Detective with the Homicide Unit of the PPD at the time of the investigation 

into the murder of Leslie Campbell and the wrongful conviction of Willie Stokes. 

24. Defendants, Estate of Lawrence Gerrard, deceased and Nicole Brongo Kiwa Nicole 

Ford, Executrix of the Estate of Ernest Gilbert, deceased, may sometimes be collectively referred 

to as “Detective-Defendants.”   

25. Defendant, ROBERT J. MARANO, ESQUIRE, (hereinafter sometimes referred 

to as “ADA Marano”) at all times relevant to this Complaint was an Assistant District Attorney 
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(“ADA”) of the Philadelphia District Attorney’s Office (“DAO”), acting under color of state law. 

These claims are brought against Defendant Marano for the performance of investigatory and/or 

administrative actions, outside the scope of his duties as a prosecutor. Defendant Marano is sued 

in his individual capacity. Upon information and belief, Defendant Marano was assigned as a 

prosecutor to the Homicide Division of the DAO at the time of the investigation into the murder 

of Leslie Campbell, the wrongful conviction of Willie Stokes, and the investigation and 

prosecution of Lee for perjury.  

26. Defendant, JOHN DIDONATO, ESQUIRE, (hereinafter sometimes referred to 

as “ADA DiDonato”) at all times relevant to this Complaint was an ADA of the DAO, acting under 

color of state law. These claims are brought against Defendant DiDonato for the performance of 

investigatory and/or administrative actions, outside the scope of his duties as a prosecutor. 

Defendant DiDonato is sued in his individual capacity. Upon information and belief, Defendant 

DiDonato was assigned as a prosecutor to the Homicide Division of the DAO at the time of the 

investigation into the murder of Leslie Campbell, the wrongful conviction of Willie Stokes, and 

the investigation and prosecution of Lee for perjury.  

27. Willie Stokes’ claims against Defendants DiDonato and Marano are based on the 

prosecutors’ performance of solely investigatory actions and/or administrative actions, thus 

stripping them from the immunities provided to them as prosecutors.  

28. Defendants DiDonato and Marano are sometimes collectively referred to as 

“Prosecutor-Defendants” throughout this Complaint. 
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29. Defendants, Detective Gilbert, Detective Gerard, ADA Marano and ADA 

DiDonato, are sometimes collectively referred to as “individual Defendants” throughout this 

Complaint.  

30. At all times relevant to this Complaint, the individual Defendants named above 

acted in concert and in conspiracy with one another in order to deprive Willie Stokes of his 

constitutionally protected rights. 

FACTUAL BACKGROUND 

31. On October 1, 1980, Leslie Campbell was murdered when someone shot into a 

crowd of people playing dice at the corner of 30th Street and Girard in Philadelphia, PA. 

32. There were no immediate arrests made, no leads were developed, and the case 

quickly went cold.  

SEX FOR LIES  

33. Four (4) years later, Lee was arrested as a suspect on unrelated homicide and rape 

charges.  

34. While Lee was being held on his own charges and facing a potential life sentence, 

Detectives Gilbert and Gerrard, both assigned to a book of cold cases in the Homicide Unit, sent a 

police vehicle to transport Lee from his jail cell to the Police Administration Building at 8th and 

Race Streets in Philadelphia, often referred to as the “Roundhouse.”  

35. There, Detectives Gilbert and Gerrard came in with several cold case files, one of 

which involved the murder of Leslie Campbell. The detectives told Lee that they were trying to 
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“clear the books” on homicide cases that remained unsolved and promised Lee that if he helped 

them, they would return the favor in a big way.  

36. When Detectives Gilbert and Gerrard first asked Lee what he knew about Willie 

Stokes’ involvement in the murder of Leslie Campbell, Lee said “I don’t know anything about 

that” which the detectives rejected, saying “that’s not what we want.”  

37. Detectives Gilbert and Gerrard then instructed Lee to fabricate a statement that he 

had heard Willie Stokes boast about getting away with the murder.  

38. In return for fabricating this false statement Lee was not only promised leniency on 

his own sentence, but also promised drugs and sex – arranged for by Detectives Gilbert and 

Gerrard.  

39. If Lee refused to go through with the fabricated statement, Detectives Gilbert and 

Gerrard threatened to arrange a harsher sentence for Lee and frame him for additional convictions.  

40. With no real choice, Lee took the deal and Detectives Gilbert and Gerrard delivered 

on their promise: providing Lee an empty police interrogation room where he could have sex with 

women.  

41. The women were freely permitted to bring in drugs and money during these 

sessions with Lee.  

42. Visitation logbooks confirm that Lee’s then-girlfriend, Charmaine Paschall, came 

to visit him at the Police Administration Building and she later testified that while on her visit, she 

did have sex with him in one of the empty interrogation rooms.  
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43. When Ms. Paschall became uncomfortable with the arrangement and refused to 

show up for another sexual rendezvous with Lee, Detectives Gilbert and Gerrard actually produced 

another woman to come in and have sex with inmate Lee in a police interrogation room at the 

Philadelphia Police Administration Building.  

44. Meanwhile, Lee’s false statement incriminating Willie Stokes in the murder of 

Leslie Campbell was used to charge and arrest Mr. Stokes in March 1984.  

FALSE TESIMONY AT THE PRELIMINARY HEARING  

45. During Willie Stokes’ preliminary hearing on May 30, 1984, Lee testified, as he 

had been coerced by Defendants to do, that Mr. Stokes had admitted to killing Leslie Campbell. 

46. Specifically, Lee testified at the preliminary hearing that he was hanging out with 

Willie Stokes years after the murder of Leslie Campbell, and that Mr. Stokes bragged about getting 

away with the murder.  

47. This testimony was consisted with the statement which Detective-Defendants had 

drafted for Lee to sign and adopt, as part of the “sex for lies” deal.   

48. Willie Stokes was held over for trial based on the testimony of Lee at his 

preliminary hearing. 

THE TRUTH AT TRIAL 

49. At Willie Stokes’ trial, Lee was called by the Commonwealth to reiterate the 

statements he made against Mr. Stokes at the preliminary hearing when he swore under oath that 

Willie Stokes confessed to him that he had murdered Leslie Campbell.  
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50. However, when Lee took the stand at trial, he refused to repeat his accusation 

against Willie Stokes and recanted his prior inculpatory statement.  

51. Lee testified at trial that his prior statement at the preliminary hearing was untrue 

and that he made the false statements because he was threatened by the Detective-Defendants and 

scared of the consequences.  

52. The prosecutor, Defendant DiDonato, engaged in a detailed cross-examination, 

using Lee’s prior statement, prior testimony and lengthy criminal history to challenge the 

credibility of his recantation.  

53. Lee continued to recant saying “the police made me make this statement,” and 

“[t]hey said if I didn’t cooperate with them, they would talk to Judge [Albert] Sabo and hang me.”4.    

54. Lee’s prior statement to the police and his testimony at the preliminary hearing 

were both read into the record and then repeated and relied upon by Defendant DiDonato during 

closing arguments to the jury.  

55. Defendant DiDonato urged the jury to reject Lee’s testimony at trial and accept his 

preliminary hearing testimony — the testimony that accused Willie Stokes of bragging about 

getting away with murder — as the truth.  

56. Defendant DiDonato asked the jury to believe Lee’s preliminary hearing testimony, 

even though Lee had testified at the trial that his statements against Willie Stokes, made at the 

preliminary hearing, were false and the product of coercion.  

 

 
4 After Lee recanted, he was sentenced to thirty-five (35) years on his open cases.   

Case 2:22-cv-00338   Document 1   Filed 01/27/22   Page 15 of 51



 

13  

57. With little else to rely upon other than the preliminary testimony of Lee, the jury 

convicted Willie Stokes of murder in the first degree.  

A CONVICTION BASED ON PERJURY 

58. Nine (9) days after securing the conviction against Willie Stokes, Defendants 

DiDonato and Marano, furious that Lee had recanted, decided to take matters into their own hands.   

59. In retaliation for Lee’s recantation, Defendants DiDonato and Marano stepped 

outside the bounds of their prosecutorial power and into the shoes of an investigator and crafted 

and signed a criminal Complaint – instead of allowing it to be investigated and prepared through 

proper channels of law enforcement — so that they could then prosecute Lee for committing 

perjury.  

60. Shockingly, Defendants DiDonato and Marano acknowledged in the charging 

document against Lee for perjury that his perjurious statements were not the statements he made 

at trial recanting his accusations against Willie Stokes, but rather, that his perjurious statements 

were the false accusations he made against Willie Stokes at the preliminary hearing when he falsely 

claimed that Willie Stokes had confessed to the murder.  

61. Defendants DiDonato and Marano knowingly used the false testimony of Lee to 

convict Willie Stokes, but then charged and convicted Lee for perjury following Willie Stokes’ 

conviction.  

62. At trial, Defendant DiDonato stood in front of a jury, while Defendant Marano sat 

in the back of the courtroom, and asked the members of the jury to discredit Lee’s recantation but 
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to accept his preliminary hearing testimony as truth — the testimony which accused Willie Stokes 

of confessing to the murder.  

63. Nine (9) days later, Defendant Marano affirmed the veracity of a criminal 

complaint, which claimed that the statements his colleague, Defendant DiDonato, had argued to 

be true and used to convict Willie Stokes, were actually false statements warranting criminal action 

for perjury against Lee.  

64. Defendant Marano signed the criminal complaint as the complaining witness 

accusing Lee of perjury as follows:  
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65. In the perjury Complaint against Lee, Defendant Marano describes the act of 

perjury as follows:  

On May 30, 1984, the defendant [Franklin Lee] was sworn and 
testified before the Honorable Arthur Kaffrissen in courtroom 675 
City Hall and testified that he was told by Willie Stokes that he 
(Willie Stokes) shot and killed Leslie Campbell. On 8/20/84 the 
defendant was again sworn in front of Judge Malmed in courtroom 
654, City Hall, Phila., PA. and stated that he lied on 5/20/84 in 
courtroom 675, City Hall, in violation of PA. Penal Laws…”  
 

See Exhibit A.  
 

66. The Information goes on to charge Lee with making a false statement under oath 

during the preliminary hearing on May 30, 1984, wherein Lee “stated Willie Stokes told him he 

killed Leslie Campbell.” 
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67. This false statement was a critical and material part of the wrongful prosecution 

against Willie Stokes, as Defendant Marano acknowledged in the Complaint against Lee stating: 

“Materiality – Willie Stokes was Convicted of Murder.” See Exhibit A.  

68. Egregiously, Defendants DiDonato and Marano were aware that the false statement 

made by Lee, had been fabricated and coerced by Detective-Defendants.  

69. Defendants DiDonato and Marano knowingly used the false testimony of Lee to 

convict Willie Stokes, then prosecuted and convicted Lee for perjury following Willie Stokes’ 

conviction.  

70. It was not the role of a prosecutor in the Homicide Unit of the DAO to sign as the 

affiant on a criminal Complaint as the “complaining witness.”  

71. Rather, it was the role of a detective or law enforcement officer to draft and sign as 

the affiant, a criminal Complaint.   

72. However, Defendants DiDonato and Marano decided to act as investigators in their 

pursuit of obtaining evidence against Lee for use against him in a prosecution for perjury.   

73. Further, Defendants DiDonato and Marano intentionally circumvented the proper 

channels of investigation and administration so to conceal their actions, and the truth, from Willie 

Stokes.  

74. In doing so, Defendants DiDonato and Marano deliberately refused to submit the 

paperwork containing information about Lee’s perjury charge and conviction to Willie Stokes’ 

homicide file so that Mr. Stokes might never discover that the prosecutors knew his conviction 

was based on lies.   
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75. Willie Stokes was convicted of murder on August 21, 1984.  

76. Lee was charged with perjury on August 29, 1984.  

77. Lee plead guilty to perjury on January 14, 1985, and received the maximum 

sentence under the law.5  

78. Prior to his sentencing hearing, Willie Stokes requested the production of 

mitigating information in the possession of the DAO. 

79. However, because Defendants DiDonato and Marano specifically prevented the 

administrators in the DAO from adding information about Lee’s perjury conviction to Willie 

Stokes’ homicide file, neither Mr. Stokes nor the sentencing Judge had this information available 

to them at Mr. Stokes’ sentencing hearing.   

80. Unbelievably, none of this was made known to Willie Stokes as he languished in a 

prison cell until September 29, 2015, thirty-one (31) years after Defendant Marano signed his name 

to a Complaint affirming that he and the DAO had knowledge that Lee’s incriminating statement 

against Mr. Stokes was false.  

81. Thirty-seven (37) years later, the Commonwealth finally admitted that it failed to 

disclose this exculpatory evidence, and that in so doing, violated Willie Stokes’ constitutional 

 
5   The Honorable Carol Sandra Moore Wells found the testimony presented at Mr. Stokes’ habeas hearing in 
November 2021, to be “extremely credible in supporting the veracity of Mr. Lee’s evidentiary hearing testimony that 
he pled guilty to the charges in the bill of information rather than at trial.” Further the Commonwealth conceded that 
“Mr. Lee’s evidentiary hearing testimony [at Mr. Stokes’ habeas hearing] was credible” and “the best available 
evidence suggests that Mr. Lee pled guilty to perjuring himself at Petitioner’s preliminary hearing” as noted by the 
Judge in her December 22, 2021 Order.  See Order of the Honorable Carol Sandra Moore Wells, dated December 22, 
2021, at pp. 18-19, in the matter of Stokes v. Lamas, et al., EDPA Docket No. 20-cv-2192.  
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rights and “fatally undermin[ed] confidence in [Mr. Stokes’] conviction,” as stated by Judge 

Wells.6   

AN ARDUOUS APPEALS PROCESS DEPRIVED OF THE TRUTH 

82. Willie Stokes immediately exercised his appellate rights and relentlessly fought to 

overturn his conviction, all the while maintaining his innocence.  

83. The information of Lee’s perjury charge was never disclosed to Willie Stokes or 

his attorneys, and therefore was never included in Mr. Stokes’ decades of submitted appeals.  

84.  On or about September 29, 2015, Willie Stokes received a letter from fellow 

inmate, Gerald Sanders, informing Mr. Stokes that the DAO had charged Lee with perjury for his 

inculpatory testimony against Mr. Stokes.  

85. The letter included a letter from Lee received by Mr. Sanders.  

86. After receiving the information from Mr. Sanders, Willie Stokes arranged to obtain 

a copy of the information and criminal docket report.   

87. Successive appellate petitions were filed and ultimately a hearing was granted and 

occurred on November 9, 2021.  

88. Lee testified at the hearing, maintaining that he was coerced into adopting the 

fabricated accusations against Willie Stokes and decided to come clean when testifying at Mr. 

Stokes’ trial, after enduring enormous feelings of guilt.  

 

 
6 See Order of the Honorable Carol Sandra Moore Wells, dated December 22, 2021, at pp. 18-19, in the matter of 
Stokes v. Lamas, et al., EDPA Docket No. 20-cv-2192.  
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89. Finally, on December 30, 2021, Willie Stokes’ habeas corpus Petition for relief 

was granted and his conviction was overturned. 

90. The prosecution finally terminated in Willie Stokes’ favor on January 27, 2022, 

after his conviction was vacated and the prosecution’s request for nolle prosequi on all charges 

was granted.    

THE SEX FOR LIES SCHEME DID NOT BEGIN WITH LEE 

91. Lee was not the only jailhouse informant who was promised sex in exchange for 

false testimony for convictions by Detectives Gerrard and Gilbert.   

92. The PPD knew such arrangements were being offered to obtain false confessions 

and that their witness interrogation rooms were serving as private rooms for sex, and nothing was 

done to stop it.  

93. In fact, in 1990, the Superior Court of Pennsylvania specifically identified this 

outrageous scheme perpetrated by Detectives Gerrard and Gilbert in a published opinion detailing 

the false confession of Arthur Lester who had sex with three separate women at the PPD 

Roundhouse, as promised by the Detectives in exchange for his own confession to a murder which 

was eventually found to be coerced under the circumstances and the resulting conviction was 

overturned. Commw. v. Lester, 572 A.2d 694 (Pa. Super. Ct. 1990). 

94. At a post-conviction hearing, “[t]he women testified that they went to the Police 

Administration Building, met with Detectives Gerrard and/or Gilbert, signed the logbook, and 

were escorted to Lester’s room” (at the Police Administration Building).  Id.  
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95. The detectives not only provided “private” rooms for these sexual encounters, but 

they actively secured women for jail informants to have sex with so that their coercive tactics 

continued to carry power.  

96. Lee explained that on one occasion, Detectives Gilbert and/or Gerrard slipped two 

(2) condoms into his hand moments before leading Lee to a room where a woman was waiting for 

him.  

97. Willie Stokes is one of several other men who remained wrongfully imprisoned 

because of testimony from informants who were also coerced into making statements in exchange 

for sex.  

98. Williams Franklin and Major Tillery, who are both in their 70s and serving out life 

terms for a 1976 murder, were identified by witness Emanuel Clait, who was promised a short 

sentence on his own convictions and the prospect of sexual encounters with four (4) women in 

exchange for testimony implicating Franklin and Tillery.  

99. Emanuel Clait has since admitted that he was coached by prosecutors and PPD 

detectives, including Detectives Gilbert and Garrett, to testify against Franklin and Tillery and 

threatened with being framed for another murder if he recanted. 

100. Detectives Gilbert and Gerrard were involved in that investigation and the “sex for 

lies” deal made with informants.  

101. Other detectives from the PPD were also involved in this investigation, including 

Detectives Leon Lubiejewski, William Shelton, John Cimino, and James McNesby.  
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102. This scheme—promising sex in exchange for lies against innocent men—was in 

effect years before Leslie Campbell was ever murdered. 

103. Yet, none of these six (6) detectives involved in the “sex for lies” scheme, which 

began years before Willie Stokes got caught in this nightmare, did anything to stop it. To the 

contrary, they continued and encouraged this effective pattern and practice of securing convictions 

at all costs and with no regard for justice or truth.  

104. In 1982, three (3) men who have maintained their innocence (Andre Harvey, 

Howard White and Russell Williams) were convicted on the statements of Charles Atwell, who, 

while in custody on his own charges, was offered the same deal by Detectives Gilbert and Gerrard.  

105. In a 1997 hearing, Atwell’s girlfriend, Maxie Harris, testified that she made eight 

(8) visits to meet him at the Police Administration Building to have sex with Atwell in interrogation 

rooms. On one (1) occasion, Atwell’s nephew, who was brought down to the Police Administration 

Building with Atwell, unintentionally walked in on his uncle, Atwell, having sex in an interview 

room, and testified to this account at that same 1997 hearing.  

106. Despite knowledge of this pattern, practice and custom of coercing confessions, 

nothing was done by the PPD to stop these unconscionable abuses of power and disrespect for the 

Constitutional rights of others, including Willie Stokes, from occurring within the walls of 

Philadelphia’s own Police Department buildings. 
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107. The PPD was aware of and allowed this pattern, practice and custom of using sex 

to incentives jail informants to adopt false statements in order for homicide detectives assigned to 

cold cases to secure convictions and tout high conviction statistics.  

THE PPD’S PATTERN AND PRACTICE OF UNCONSTITUTIONAL 
MISCONDUCT IN HOMICIDE INVESTIGATIONS, INCLUDING THE FABRICATION 

OF EVIDENCE, COERCION AND SUGGESTION OF FALSE STATEMENTS FROM 
WITNESSES AND SUSPECTS, AND SUPPRESSION OF EXCULPATORY EVIDENCE 

 
108. The PPD has exhibited a pervasive pattern and practice of unconstitutional 

misconduct in their homicide investigations, including coercion of false statements from witnesses 

and suppression of exculpatory and inconsistent evidence, that dates back to at least the early 

1970’s and has continued beyond the Defendants’ investigation and prosecution of Willie Stokes. 

109. For many years, dating back at least to the 1970’s, and continuing well beyond the 

time of the investigation of Leslie Campbell’s murder, Defendant City had, in force and effect, a 

policy, practice or custom of unconstitutional misconduct in homicide investigations, and in 

particular, using coercive techniques in interviews and interrogations to obtain statements, 

fabricating inculpatory evidence and withholding exculpatory evidence. 

110. At the time of the investigation and prosecution of Willie Stokes, the PPD had a 

policy, practice or custom involving the use of various techniques to coerce false statements, 

including, but not limited to, subjecting witnesses to needlessly prolonged interrogations and 

interviews, failing to record interviews/interrogations, isolation, making promises, regardless of 

their truthfulness, threatening charges for unrelated misconduct, offering assistance in unrelated 

criminal matters, interviewing witnesses while they are under the influence of drugs that make 
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them more susceptible to coercion, and assertions that the witness will benefit from making a 

statement that assists the police or suffer some sort of disadvantage if they refuse. 

111. At the time of the investigation and prosecution of Willie Stokes, the PPD had a 

policy, practice or custom involving the use of various techniques to suppress and/or withhold 

exculpatory or inconsistent statements and evidence, in violation of their known duty under Brady, 

including, but not limited to, making false statements to prosecutors about the existence of 

evidence, failing to provide complete Homicide files to prosecutors, coercing witnesses into 

keeping exculpatory and inconsistent information from prosecutors, disregarding or deleting 

exculpatory and inconsistent information from Homicide files, ignoring exculpatory and 

inconsistent information so that there is no record to be deleted from Homicide files, threatening 

witnesses in possession of exculpatory and inconsistent information to prevent them from coming 

forward to prosecutors or testifying and deleting information of key exculpatory witnesses so that 

they do not testify at trial. 

112. This policy, practice or custom involved the use of various techniques to coerce 

inculpatory statements, including, without limitation, isolation, separating juvenile or otherwise 

vulnerable suspects or witnesses from their friends and family, subjecting individuals to needlessly 

prolonged interrogations, making false promises, including the promise that a suspect or witness 

will be allowed to go home if he or she makes an inculpatory statement, the use or threat of physical 

violence, authoritative assertions of a suspect’s guilt, including, without limitation, confrontation 

with false inculpatory evidence, and providing false assurances that the suspect will benefit from 

making an inculpatory statement that minimizes the suspect’s own involvement. 
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113. This policy, practice or custom also involved the use of various techniques to make 

false statements appear true and reliable, including, without limitation, providing a witness or 

suspect with details about the crime that only the perpetrator or police could know, whether 

through leading questions or more direct communication, taking misleading steps to make coerced 

statements appear as if they originated from the suspect following a lawful interrogation, 

selectively documenting a witness or suspect’s eventual statement and not the preceding 

interrogation, preparation and rehearsal, and misrepresenting that a suspect’s formal statement was 

a verbatim statement in the suspect’s own words. 

114. These practices were well known to Defendant City, and its policymakers, with 

respect to criminal investigations and prosecutions as a result of newspaper investigations, 

including Pulitzer Prize winning reporting in the Philadelphia Inquirer in 1977-1978, 

governmental investigations, complaints from lawyers and civilians, and internal police 

investigations, including the PPD’s 39th District Corruption Scandal in the 1990’s, complaints 

lodged by the public, prior litigation and internal police investigations. 

115. The 39th District Corruption Scandal involved widespread unconstitutional 

practices that were not appropriately addressed or remediated despite pervasive knowledge 

throughout the PPD and Defendant City.  The police misconduct in the 39th District Corruption 

Scandal included constitutional violations that mirror those violations suffered by Willie Stokes, 

including omission of material information and suppression of exculpatory evidence, physical 

abuse and coercive interrogation tactics, and false allegations of criminal conduct.  The PPD was 

deliberately indifferent to the officer’s misconduct and credible complaints to their internal 

compliance department were disregarded. 
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116. Various cases demonstrate that this misconduct was pervasive within the PPD at 

time of the investigation into Leslie Campbell’s murder and the subsequent prosecution of Willie 

Stokes.  This misconduct was pervasive within the PPD’s Homicide Unit before and after its 

investigation of Willie Stokes and, upon information and belief, the misconduct described in this 

Complaint was expressly or tacitly committed or deliberately ignored when committed in the 

presence of the Homicide Unit and the PPD supervisors or because of their deliberate indifference 

to this misconduct. 

117. Numerous other convictions that later resulted in exonerations demonstrate the 

pervasive patterns, practices and customs of official misconduct within the Homicide Unit of the 

PPD include: 

a. Raymond Carter 
b. Anthony Wright 
c. Eugene Gilyard  
d. Lance Felder 
e. Carlos Hernandez  
f. Ed Williams 
g. Jackie Combs, Jr. 
h. Willie Veasy 
i. Percy St. George 
j. Jimmy Dennis 
k. Donald Ray Adams 
l. Andrew Swainson 
m. Walter Ogrod 
n. James Dennis 
o. Shaurn Thomas 
p. Terrance Lewis 
q. Donald Outlaw  
r. James Frazier 
s. Christopher Williams 
t. Chester Holman  

 
118. As a result of a pattern of police misconduct that was in effect at the time of the 

investigation of the murder of Leslie Campbell for which Willie Stokes was charged, the United 
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States District Court for the Eastern District of Pennsylvania entered a consent decree in the matter 

of NAACP v. City of Philadelphia requiring widespread reforms in the PPD, while also limiting 

certain aspects of their investigative practices and policies. 

119. This practice, as exemplified by the investigation into Willie Stokes’ wrongful 

conviction, and those detailed hereinabove, continued for years due to the deliberate indifference 

of the PPD and Defendant City to these policies, practices and customs.  

120. During the 1980’s and early 1990’s, and concurrent with the time of the 

investigation and prosecution of Willie Stokes by the PPD, there was, within the PPD a pattern, 

practice and custom of violating the constitutional rights of criminal suspects and others, including 

systemic violations of the Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments.  On three (3) separate occasions in 

the 1980’s, courts in the Eastern District of Pennsylvania issued orders enjoining the PPD from 

engaging in these practices: 

a. Cliett v. City of Philadelphia:  Consent decree arising out of “Operation 
Cold Turkey”, that resulted in the unlawful arrest and detention of 1500 
individuals in drug enforcement practices);  

b. Spring Garden Neighbors v. City of Philadelphia:  Enjoining police 
sweeps of Latinos in Spring Garden area in a homicide investigation);  

c. Arrington v. City of Philadelphia: Enjoining stops, detentions and 
searches of African-American men during investigation of the “Center City 
Stalker”). 

 
121. At the time of the investigation and prosecution of Willie Stokes, the PPD had a 

practice, policy and custom of: 

a. Engaging in unlawful interrogation of suspects, witness detentions and 
interrogations, planting of evidence, fabrication of witness and suspect 
statements, and failing to disclose exculpatory evidence; 

b. Allowing detectives to engage in illegal and coercive tactics to secure 
evidence in homicide cases. 
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c. Allowing detectives to use promises of sex and drugs to coerce jailhouse 
informants into adopting fabricated statements for use as evidence in 
homicide cases.  

d. Failing to take appropriate disciplinary or other corrective actions with 
respect to police officers who engaged in illegal or unconstitutional 
conduct; 

e. Failing to properly train and supervise officers with respect to the 
constitutional limitations on their investigative, detention, search and arrest 
powers; 

f. Ignoring, with deliberate indifference, systemic patterns of police 
misconduct and abuse of civilians’ rights in the course of police 
investigations and prosecutions of criminal suspects and Defendants, 
including unlawful police interrogations, searches, arrests, coercion of 
witnesses, falsifying and fabrication of evidence and suppression of 
exculpatory evidence; 

g. Failing to properly sanction or discipline PPD officers, who are aware of 
and conceal and/or aid and abet violations of constitutional rights of 
individuals by other PPD officers, thereby causing and encouraging PPD 
police, including the Defendants in this case, to violate the rights of citizens, 
such as Willie Stokes. 

 
122. At the time of the investigation and prosecution of Willie Stokes, and for many 

years before and thereafter, the PPD and Defendant City has been deliberately indifferent to the 

need to train, supervise and discipline police officers.  The Internal Affairs Division (“IAD”) of 

the PPD has failed to provide an internal disciplinary mechanism that imposes meaningful 

disciplinary and remedial actions in the following respects: 

a. excessive and chronic delays in resolving disciplinary complaints; 
b. a lack of consistent, rational and meaningful disciplinary and remedial 

actions; 
c. a failure to effectively discipline substantial numbers of officers who were 

found to have engaged in misconduct; 
d. the PPD’s internal investigatory process fell below accepted practices and 

was arbitrary and inconsistent; 
e. the PPD discipline, as practiced, was incident-based rather than progressive, 

thus, repeat violators were not penalized in proportion to the number of 
violations; 

f. the conduct of IAD investigations demonstrated that PPD internal affairs 
personnel were not adequately trained and supervised in the proper conduct 
of such investigations; 
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g. a global analysis of IAD’s investigatory procedures indicated a pattern of 
administrative conduct where the benefit of the doubt was given to the 
officer rather than the complainant; 

h. serious deficiencies in the quality of IAD investigations and the validity of 
the IAD findings and conclusions; 

i. lack of an effective early warning system to identify, track and monitor 
“problem” officers; 

j. IAD frequently failed to interview available eyewitnesses to incidents 
involving citizen complaints of misconduct, interviews that were conducted 
were below acceptable standards of police practice and failed to address key 
issues; and 

k. IAD failed to acknowledge the disproportionate use of force used by police 
officers in the investigation of citizen complaints and failed to properly 
categorize the police officers’ misconduct in those cases as an 
impermissible use of force. 

 
123. The PPD’s conduct in this case was not an isolated incident and was instead the 

result of customs, policies and practices of the PPD prior to and at the time of the unlawful 

investigation into the murder at issue. The PPD, by and through its final policy makers, maintained 

an official policy, pattern, practice, or custom of suppressing coercing confessions and fabricating 

evidence in violation of Willie Stokes’ and others’ constitutional rights.  

124. Further, the PPD failed to train, educate, and supervise officers including Detective 

Defendants regarding proper conduct in police work and investigations. Thus, the Defendant 

Detectives and the PPD officers were inadequately educated and trained about their constitutional 

and ethical responsibilities to criminal defendants. The lack of oversight of Defendant Detectives 

and other homicide detectives in the PPD by the PPD compounded the constitutional violations by 

eliminating any mechanism by which such violations would be identified and rectified.  

125. Yet, the PPD and Defendant City, by and through its final policymakers, 

implemented the policy, practice and customs of coercing jailhouse informants or other criminal 

defendants into adopting fabricated statements for use in prosecuting and convicting persons of 
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interest in deliberate indifference to the substantial likelihood that these customs, practices, and 

policies would result in constitutional violations like those that occurred in Willie Stokes’ case.  

126. Such policies, customs and practices of the PPD were the moving force behind the 

fabricated and coerced statement of Lee, and its unlawful use in the conviction and imprisonment 

of Willie Stokes.  

DEFENDANTS DIDONATO AND MARANO USURPED THE INVESTIGATIVE ROLE 
OF LAW ENFORCEMENT IN CHARGING LEE WITH PERJURY 

 
127. At all times relevant, the Homicide Unit of the DAO is, and remains, an elite unit, 

staffed with senior trial prosecutors. 

128. Prosecutors in the Homicide Unit generally did not concern themselves with low-

level felony cases such as charges of perjury.  

129. At all times relevant, Prosecutors in at any level of the DAO did not draft or sign 

the charging document against criminal defendants.    

130. Law enforcement officers who investigated the crime were responsible for drafting 

the charges against an arrestee and verifying the document by signing as the affiant.  

131. In this case, the complaining document charging Lee with perjury was drafted and 

signed by Defendant Marano on August 29, 1984.  

132. Before signing and submitting the perjury charge against Lee, Defendants 

DiDonato and Marano stepped into an investigative role to obtain information to be used in the 

Complaint and served as both witnesses and evidence collectors in the charging document against 

Lee.   
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133. None of this was part of the duties and responsibilities of Defendants DiDonato and 

Marano in their capacity as prosecutors. 

DEFENDANTS DIDONATO AND MARANO ACTED IN AN ADMINISTRATIVE 
CAPACTY IN SUPPRESSING EXCULPATORY INFORMATION FROM DISCOVERY 

BY WILLIE STOKES  
 

134. At all times relevant, prosecutors in the Homicide Unit were not involved in the 

administrative record-keeping process related to homicide files. 

135. Defendants DiDonato and Marano usurped the role of administrators when they 

refused to submit information related to Lee’s perjury conviction to Willie Stokes’ homicide file.  

136. Had they allowed this information to be handled by administrative staff, the 

information about Lee’s conviction would have been included in Willie Stokes’ homicide file.  

137. Because Defendants DiDonato and Marano specifically withheld this paperwork 

from being added to Willie Stokes’ file, the information was not provided to Mr. Stokes’ attorneys 

when requests for mitigating information were received, prior to Mr. Stokes’ sentencing hearing.  

138. Because Defendants DiDonato and Marano specifically withheld this paperwork 

from being added to Willie Stokes’ file, the information was not provided to Mr. Stokes’ attorneys 

during his post-conviction relief discovery requests.  

139. Had this information been timely provided to Willie Stokes, as it would have if 

Defendants DiDonato and Marano had not usurped the responsibility of the administrative staff, 

Mr. Stokes would not have wasted thirty-seven (37) years of his life in prison for a crime that his 

prosecutors knew he did not commit.  

140. The actions of Willie Stokes were conducted in an administrative capacity and not 

in furtherance of their duties and responsibilities as prosecutors.  
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141. Additionally, in an effort to avoid Brady obligations, and with deliberate disregard 

for Willie Stokes’ constitutional rights, Defendants DiDonato and Marano instructed PPD 

personnel to keep documentation of exculpatory and impeachment evidence in their exclusive 

possession.  

142. Although Defendants DiDonato and Marano were made aware of the exculpatory 

and impeachment evidence related to the circumstances of Lee’s incriminating statement against 

Willie Stokes, Defendants DiDonato and Marano prevented physical documentation of such 

evidence from being transmitted to the DAO through proper channels.  

143. Defendants DiDonato and Marano knew that if documentation of such information 

was transmitted to the DAO as a typical case, it would be placed in the homicide file for Willie 

Stokes, thereby triggering disclosure the of exculpatory evidence.  

144. Because Brady obligations related to disclosure of exculpatory evidence did not 

extend to police officers, the PPD personnel were instructed to keep certain exculpatory 

information in their exclusive possession.  

145. By instructing the PPD personnel to keep documentation of such evidence in their 

exclusive physical possession, Defendants DiDonato and Marano attempted to avoid Brady 

obligations and withhold such information form Willie Stokes’ attorneys during the course of 

discovery.  

146. In a separate post-conviction hearing for another wrongfully convicted and 

incarcerated man, Christopher Williams, an Assistant District Attorney testified that material like 

activity sheets of the PPD were not passed or transmitted to the DAO “as a matter of course,” a 
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fact which was stipulated to by the Commonwealth during Mr. Williams’ post-conviction 

litigation.  

147. Similarly, although information was passed between the homicide ADAs and 

homicide detectives in this case, the ADAs prevented such information from being filed in their 

own files, so that it would not be passed on to Willie Stokes’ attorneys through the administrative 

discovery process.  

148. At the time of the arrest and prosecution of Willie Stokes, the DAO intentionally 

lacked an “open file” discovery policy. Thus, each assistant district attorney, functioned as their 

own discovery clerk and, determined which information would be withheld or produced.  

149. The instructions related to proper filing, transmissions, and exchange of documents 

were made by Defendants DiDonato and Marano in an administrative capacity and not in their 

capacity as prosecutors advocating for the Commonwealth.   

150. The actions of Defendants DiDonato and Marano caused the exculpatory and 

impeachment evidence related to Lee’s inculpatory statements were suppressed from Willie Stokes 

during his prosecution and sentencing. Additionally, the actions of Defendants DiDonato and 

Marano caused the exculpatory and mitigating evidence related to the perjury conviction for Lee 

to be suppressed from Willie Stokes during his sentencing hearing and post-conviction efforts.  

DAMAGES 
 

151. The unlawful, intentional, willful, deliberately indifferent, and reckless acts and 

omissions of the individual Defendants and Defendant City, caused Willie Stokes to be improperly 

arrested and imprisoned, unfairly tried, wrongfully convicted, sentenced to life without parole, and 

forced to serve over thirty-seven (37) years in prison for a brutal crime he did not commit. 
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152. As a direct result of Defendants’ conduct and omissions, Willie Stokes sustained 

injuries and damages, including loss of his freedom for more than thirty-seven (37) years of his 

youth and adult life, pain and suffering, mental anguish, emotional distress, indignities, 

degradation, permanent loss of natural psychological and vocational development, and restrictions 

on all forms of personal freedom including, but not limited to, diet, sleep, personal contact, 

educational opportunity, vocational opportunity, athletic/physical opportunity, personal 

fulfillment, sexual activity, family relations, reading, television, movies, church, travel, 

community engagement, religious and spiritual activity, exposure and adaptability to technological 

advancements, enjoyment, and freedom of speech and expression.   

153. As a direct result of Defendants’ conduct and omissions, Willie Stokes was 

deprived of: his familial relationships including the opportunity to provide guidance and tutelage 

to his children, attendance at his nineteen-year-old daughter’s funeral, ability to grieve with family 

over the loss of his daughter, attendance at the funeral of his step-father (who was his father-

figure), ability to grieve with family over the loss of his father-figure, and countless birthdays, 

weddings, deaths, births, and other significant milestones in his own life and the life of his family, 

which Mr. Stokes was deprived of as he sat in a jail cell for a crime that he did not commit.  

154. As a direct result of Defendants’ conduct and omissions, Willie Stokes sustained 

economic injuries and damages, including decades of loss of income and loss of career 

opportunities. 

155. As a direct result of Defendants’ conduct and omissions, Willie Stokes sustained 

physical injuries and damages, including physical pain and suffering, personal injuries, physical 

illness and inadequate medical care. 
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156. As a direct result of Defendants’ conduct and omissions, Willie Stokes was forced 

to suffer the emotional pain and suffering of a protracted appellate process and numerous 

evidentiary hearings that ultimately resulted in his exoneration, but not before wasting decades of 

his life sitting in prison as an innocent man whose Constitutional rights were violated.  
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COUNT I: 42 U.S.C. §1983 
Malicious Prosecution in Violation of the Fourth Amendment 

 
157. Plaintiff incorporates by reference all of the foregoing paragraphs. 

158. The individual Defendants, acting individually and in concert with malice, and 

knowing that probable cause did not exist to prosecute Willie Stokes for Leslie Campbell’s murder, 

intentionally caused Mr. Stokes to be arrested, charged and prosecuted for those crimes, thereby 

violating Mr. Stokes’s clearly established right, under the Fourth Amendment of the U.S. 

Constitution, to be free of prosecution absent probable cause. 

159. Defendants knowingly used the false testimony of Lee to convict Willie Stokes and 

then prosecuted and convicted Lee for perjury following Mr. Stokes’ conviction which was based 

on Lee’s false and perjurious testimony.  

160. Lee’s false statement was used to obtain probable cause for Willie Stokes’ arrest, 

prosecution and conviction.  

161. Lee was coerced into making the false statement against Willie Stokes by 

Detectives Gilbert and Gerrard who offered him sex, drugs, and leniency in exchange for his lies 

against Mr. Stokes.  

162. Defendants DiDonato and Marano then relied upon the coerced testimony to secure 

a false conviction against Willie Stokes.  

163. By prosecuting Lee for perjury for the false statement that inculpated Willie Stokes 

in the crime, Defendants DiDonato and Marano acknowledge — and affirmed under oath — the 

falsity of his statement against Mr. Stokes.  
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164. The individual Defendants, acting individually and in concert, fabricated evidence 

and intentionally withheld and misrepresented exculpatory evidence, all of which resulted in the 

arrest and prosecution of Willie Stokes without probable cause. 

165. The individual Defendants performed the above-described acts under color of state 

law, intentionally, with reckless disregard for the truth, and with deliberate indifference to Willie 

Stokes’ clearly established constitutional rights.  No reasonable officer, prosecutor or person 

would have believed this conduct was lawful. 

166. Federal habeas relief was granted in Willie Stokes’ favor on December 30, 2021 

by the Honorable Timothy J. Savage.     

167. The acts and omissions by the individual Defendants, as described in the preceding 

paragraphs, were the direct and proximate cause of Willie Stokes’ injuries because these 

Defendants knew, or should have known, that their conduct would result in the wrongful arrest, 

prosecution, conviction, and incarceration of Willie Stokes. 
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COUNT II: 42 U.S.C. §1983 
Deprivation of Liberty without Due Process of Law 

By Fabricating Evidence in an Investigative Capacity and Suppressing Evidence in an 
Administrative Capacity,  in violation of the Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments 

 
168. Plaintiff incorporates by reference all of the foregoing paragraphs. 

169. Defendants DiDonato and Marano, acting individually and in concert, deprived 

Willie Stokes of his clearly established constitutional rights to Due Process when they fabricated 

evidence in an investigative capacity, outside their duties as prosecutors, and assembled and then 

signed the charging document against Lee for perjury.  

170. Defendants DiDonato and Marano were homicide prosecutors, they did not handle 

perjury cases. Further, prosecutors in the DAO did not draft or sign criminal Complaints/charging 

documents as the affiant.  Rather, it was the duty of the law enforcement officer/agency responsible 

for the investigation of the crime, to draft and sign criminal Complaints for the Prosecutors to then 

use in the subsequent prosecution of a case.  

171. Here, Defendants DiDonato and Marano usurped the investigative function of a law 

enforcement officer, and conducted their own, albeit brief, investigation into Lee’s perjury charge, 

drafted the charging document and then Defendant Marano signed the document as its affiant, all 

of which was outside the scope of their duties as prosecutors.  

172. Defendants DiDonato and Marano further violated Willie Stokes’ constitutional 

rights by encouraging and permitting Philadelphia police officers, including Detective-

Defendants, to fabricate statements from jailhouse informants, describing Mr. Stokes’ purported 

confession to the homicide, and in doing so, Defendants DiDonato and Marano were functioning 

not as advocates, but as investigators and even served as their own witnesses in seeking to generate 

evidence in support of a prosecution.  
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173. Further, Defendants DiDonato and Marano specifically instructed PPD personnel, 

including Detective-Defendants, to maintain exculpatory and impeachment evidence in their file, 

instead of transferring it to the DAO for filing, so to avoid Brady obligations related to disclosure 

of exculpatory information. In doing so, Defendants DiDonato and Marano were functioning not 

as advocates, but as administrators seeking to maintain records and files in specific locations. 

174. Defendants DiDonato and Marano also usurped the administrative function of the 

DAO staff when they refused to submit the paperwork containing information of Lee’s perjury 

conviction to Willie Stokes’ homicide file, and prevented this information from being disclosed 

and discovered by Willie Stokes and his attorney(s).  

175. Defendants DiDonato and Marano performed the above-described acts under color 

of state law, intentionally, with reckless disregard for the truth, and with deliberate indifference to 

Willie Stokes’ clearly established constitutional rights.  No reasonable prosecutor or person would 

have believed this conduct was lawful. 

176. Further, no reasonable prosecutor or person would have engaged in the conduct of 

investigating, drafting, and signing as the affiant, a criminal Complaint against a suspect for 

perjury, because it was outside the scope of the prosecutor’s duties and normal functions.  

177. Similarly, no reasonable prosecutor or person would have engaged in the conduct 

of circumventing proper administrative channels so to withhold paperwork from a defendant’s file, 

because it was outside the scope of the prosecutor’s duties and normal functions.  

178. Defendants’ acts and omissions, as described in the preceding paragraphs, were the 

direct and proximate cause of Willie Stokes’ injuries.  Defendants knew, or should have known, 
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that their conduct would result in Mr. Stokes’s wrongful arrest, prosecution, conviction and 

incarceration. 

COUNT III: 42 U.S.C. §1983 
Civil Rights Conspiracy 

 
179. The individual Defendants, acting within the scope of their employment and under 

color of state law, agreed among themselves and with other individuals, to act in concert in order 

to deprive Willie Stokes of his clearly established Fourth, and Fourteenth Amendment rights to be 

free from unreasonable searches and seizures, false arrest, false imprisonment, malicious 

prosecution, deprivation of liberty without due process of law, and right to a fair trial. 

180. In furtherance of the conspiracy, Defendants engaged in and facilitated numerous 

overt acts, including, without limitation, the following: 

a. Suggesting, coercing and/or fabricating inculpatory evidence in the form of 
witness statements; 

b. Coercing and fabricating false witness statements; 
c. Intentionally or with deliberate indifference failing to comply with their 

duty to disclose Brady and impeachment material during the pendency of 
the case; 

d. Wrongfully prosecuting Willie Stokes while knowing that they lacked 
probable cause;  

e. Knowingly relying upon coerced and false testimony to convict Willie 
Stokes of crimes that he did not commit;  

f. Knowingly relying upon coerced and false inculpatory statements to secure 
a conviction and close out a case rather than investigate and disclose 
exculpatory evidence in the homicide of Leslie Campbell; and 

g. Committing perjury during hearings and trials. 
 
181. Defendants’ acts and omissions, as described above, were the direct and proximate 

cause of Willie Stokes’ injuries. Defendants knew, or should have known, that their conduct would 

result in Mr. Stokes’ wrongful arrest, prosecution, conviction, and incarceration. 
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COUNT IV: 42 U.S.C. §1983 
Monell Liability - Failure to Train, Supervise, and Discipline 

 
182. Plaintiff incorporates by reference all of the foregoing paragraphs. 

183. Defendant City, by and through the PPD, committed obvious failure in training and 

supervision of individual Defendants which resulted in a gross violation of Willie Stokes’ 

constitutional rights.  

184. Detective-Defendants were obviously engaged in a highly inappropriate and 

unconstitutional pattern and practice of allowing inmates to have sex with women on police 

property and to consume drugs on police property, in exchange for false testimony to be used to 

secure convictions.  

185. Detective-Defendants were obviously engaged in a highly inappropriate and 

unconstitutional pattern and practice of coercing witnesses, and specifically jailhouse informants, 

to adopt false inculpatory statements used to support arrests and prosecutions in homicide cases.  

186. In furtherance of these grossly unconstitutional actions, Detective-Defendants 

engaged in and facilitated numerous overt acts, including, without limitation, the following: 

a. Suggesting, coercing and/or fabricating inculpatory evidence in the form of 
witness statements; 

b. Coercing and fabricating false witness statements; 
c. Intentionally or with deliberate indifference failing to comply with their 

duty to disclose Brady and impeachment material during the pendency of 
the case; 

d. Wrongfully prosecuting Willie Stokes while knowing that they lacked 
probable cause;  

e. Inappropriately using incentives like sex and drugs to coerce false 
statements against Willie Stokes; 

f. Inappropriately using incentives like leniency and reduction of criminal 
charges against the witness to coerce false statements against Willie Stokes; 
and 

g. Committing perjury during hearings and trials. 
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187. Defendant City consciously or deliberately failed to train, supervise or discipline 

for the above-described failures, which knowingly lead to repeated violations of criminal 

defendants’ constitutional rights.  

188. Defendant City consciously or deliberately failed to investigate and discipline PPD 

officers for their coercive interrogation tactics in the face of wide-spread constitutional violations 

as described in this Complaint.  

189. The PPD knowingly operated an inadequate disciplinary system which failed to 

investigate and discipline officers who engaged in unconstitutional conduct in deliberate 

indifference to the constitutional violations of individuals including Willie Stokes.  

190. Defendants’ acts and omissions, as described above, were the direct and proximate 

cause of Willie Stokes’ injuries. Defendants knew, or should have known, that their conduct would 

result in Mr. Stokes’ wrongful arrest, prosecution, conviction, and incarceration. 

191. Defendant City acted with deliberate indifference to Willie Stokes’ constitution 

rights, as described above.   
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COUNT V: 42 U.S.C. §1983 
Deprivation of Liberty without Due Process of Law and Denial of a Fair Trial by 

Fabricating Evidence in violation of the Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments 
 

192. Plaintiff incorporates by reference all of the foregoing paragraphs. 

193. The individual Detective-Defendants, acting individually and in concert, deprived 

Willie Stokes of his clearly established constitutional right to due process of law and to a fair trial 

by fabricating inculpatory evidence and deliberately using coercion and/or suggestion to obtain 

inculpatory witness statements, including, without limitation, the false statement of Lee, which 

was obtained by coercion through promises of sex, drugs, and leniency in exchange for his lies 

against Willie Stokes.   

194. The individual Detective-Defendants deprived Willie Stokes of his right to a fair 

trial by withholding material exculpatory and impeachment evidence from prosecutors and 

defense, including, without limitation, information regarding the true circumstances of Leslie 

Campbell’s murder, including Lee’s interrogations, his actual statements, prior to Defendants’ 

coercion and fabrication of his false statements - that Lee had no information implicating Willie 

Stokes.   

195. Detective-Defendants also withheld material exculpatory and impeachment 

evidence from prosecutors and defense, including, without limitation, information regarding the 

circumstances of Lee’s interrogations and the incentives promised — and actually delivered — 

including providing women for Lee to have sex with at the police administration building, in 

exchange for his false testimony against Willie Stokes.  

196. The individual Defendants performed the above-described acts under color of state 

law, intentionally, with reckless disregard for the truth, and with deliberate indifference to Willie 
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Stokes’ clearly established constitutional rights.  No reasonable officer would have believed this 

conduct was lawful. 

197. Defendants’ acts and omissions, as described in the preceding paragraphs, were the 

direct and proximate cause of Willie Stokes’ injuries.  Defendants knew, or should have known, 

that their conduct would result in Mr. Stokes’ wrongful arrest, prosecution, conviction and 

incarceration. 
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COUNT VI: 42 U.S.C. §1983 
Municipal Liability Claim 

 
198. Plaintiff hereby incorporates by reference all of the foregoing paragraphs. 

199. Defendant City, by and through its final policymakers, had in force and effect 

during time of Willie Stokes’ wrongful arrest and conviction, and for many years preceding and 

following this investigation, a policy, practice or custom of unconstitutional misconduct in 

homicide and other criminal investigations, including, in particular, the use of coercive techniques 

in interviews and interrogations to obtain confessions, the fabrication of inculpatory evidence, the 

fabrication of incriminating statements from witnesses, suspects and arrestees by coercion, 

suggestion, and feeding details about the crime, and the withholding of exculpatory evidence. 

200. Final policymakers for Defendant City had actual or constructive notice of these 

practices, policies and customs, but repeatedly failed to make any meaningful investigation into 

charges that homicide detectives were using coercive techniques in interviews and interrogations 

to obtain confessions, withholding exculpatory evidence, fabricating inculpatory evidence, and, 

particularly, fabricating incriminating statements from witnesses, suspects and arrestees by 

coercion, suggestion and feeding details about the crime, and failed to take appropriate remedial 

and/or disciplinary actions to curb this pattern of misconduct. 

201. Such unconstitutional municipal customs, practices and/or policies were the 

moving force behind Willie Stokes’ false, coerced and fabricated confession, causing his arrest, 

prosecution, and thirty-seven (37) years of incarceration, as well as all the other injuries and 

damages set forth hereinabove. 
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COUNT VII 
Malicious Prosecution Under Pennsylvania State Law 

 
202. Plaintiff hereby incorporates by reference all of the foregoing paragraphs. 

203. The individual Defendants initiated or continued proceedings against Willie Stokes, 

without probable cause, with malice or specific intent to injure, and the proceedings ultimately 

terminated in Willie Stokes’ favor on December 30, 2021, after his conviction and sentence was 

vacated by the Honorable Timothy J. Savage.   

204. As a result of this malicious prosecution, Willie Stokes sustained the injuries and 

damages set forth above. 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, Willie Stokes, prays for the following relief: 

A. That the Court award compensatory damages to Plaintiff and against all 
Defendants, jointly and severally, in an amount to be determined at trial; 

B. That the Court award punitive damages to Plaintiff, and against all 
Defendants, in an amount to be determined at trial, that will deter such 
conduct by Defendants in the future; 

C. For a trial by jury; 
D. For pre-judgment and post-judgment interest and recovery of Plaintiff's 

costs, including reasonable attorneys’ fees pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §1988 for 
all 42 U.S.C. §1983 claims; and 

E. For any and all other relief to which Plaintiff may be entitled. 
 
 

 
 
Joshua Van Naarden    
Joshua Van Naarden, Esquire 
Julia Ronnebaum, Esquire 
Pa. I.D. Nos. 86740/326785 
2001 Market Street, Suite 3700 
Philadelphia, PA  19103 
TEL: (215) 960-0000 
FAX: (215) 960-0384 

 
Dated:  January 27, 2022 
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